**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court**

**RECEIVED**

APR 03 2015

**SC SUPREME COURT**

---

**APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**Carmen Tevis Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2014-002502  
Lower Court Case No. 2010-CP-25-489  
Lower Court Case No. 2010-CP-25-490**

---

Linda Johnson, as Personal Representative of  
the Estate of Inez Roberts,.....Petitioner,

v.

Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC, d/b/a Heritage  
of the Lowcountry and/or Uni-Health Post Acute  
Network of the Lowcountry, United Clinical Services,  
Inc., United Rehab, Inc. and UHS-Pruitt Corporation,.....Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR BY FAILING TO ADDRESS THE DISPOSITIVE ISSUE OF WAIVER, BY FAILING TO UNDERTAKE ANY FACTUAL ANALYSIS OF WAIVER, AND BY ISSUING A CONCLUSORY RULING ON THE ISSUE WHICH IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE RECORD BEFORE THE COURT?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 22, 2007, at the age of eighty-five and while in good physical condition, Mrs. Inez Roberts was admitted to Respondent Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC's ("HHE")<sup>1</sup> nursing home facility in Estill, South Carolina. (R. p. 69; R. p. 656). At the time of her admission, Mrs. Roberts was free of any pressure sores. (R. p. 656). On January 20, 2008, Mrs. Roberts was first noted as having pressure sores. (R. p. 192). Throughout the remainder of Mrs. Roberts' residency, her pressure sores worsened (R. pp. 194-230) and eventually Mrs. Roberts had to have her leg amputated. (R. p. 232). On July 3, 2009, Mrs. Inez Roberts died in Hampton County, South Carolina.

Prior to Mrs. Roberts' admission to HHE's Estill facility, her daughter Linda Johnson held a duly recorded, general Power of Attorney. (R. pp. 647-651). Linda Johnson signed the Arbitration Agreement at issue as part of the process of admitting her mother to HHE's facility.

On August 14, 2008, Linda Johnson filed a Summons and Complaint pursuant to Rule 65(b), SCRCPP, for an *Ex Parte* Motion for Temporary Restraining Order ("TRO") in the Hampton County Court of Common Pleas. At that time, her mother was 86 years old, in poor health, and still a resident of the Respondents' nursing home facility. At the time of the filing of the TRO, Johnson and her counsel were informed and believed that the negligence of the Respondents and its staff had caused the pressure sores that had developed in January of 2008. In an effort to investigate the cause of Mrs. Roberts' injuries and pursue possible legal remedies, Johnson sought to review the nursing chart

---

<sup>1</sup> All Respondents in this matter, unless addressed by their specific corporate name, are referred to collectively herein as "Respondents" or "HHE."

and medical records of Mrs. Roberts, which were in the control and possession of Respondents.

The TRO alleged that Linda Johnson was the Personal Representative of Mrs. Roberts upon her admission to the facility and that throughout Roberts' stay, the Petitioner was consulted by the facility concerning her mother's treatment and care by HHE. Upon Johnson's request for the records, however, Respondents refused to provide her with a copy of Mrs. Roberts' chart pursuant to 42 C.F.R. 483.10. Mrs. Johnson brought the TRO action seeking to restrain the Respondents from in any way changing, altering, destroying, or manipulating Mrs. Roberts' nursing home chart or other evidence related to the care of Roberts, and Johnson requested that she or her representatives be allowed to enter upon Respondents' premises for the purpose of inspecting, viewing, and copying the same nursing chart, or in the alternative, that she be provided a color copy of the chart.

On September 5, 2009, Judge Carmen T. Mullen granted Petitioner's *Ex Parte* Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order. Upon being served with the trial court's Order Granting the *Ex Parte* Temporary Restraining Order, Respondents immediately filed a Motion to Dissolve Temporary Restraining Order, Objection to Injunctive Relief, and a Memorandum in Support. Respondents argued that production of Mrs. Johnson's mother's records and chart would violate certain provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and the *Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information*, codified at 45 C.F.R. §164.500, collectively referred to as HIPAA.

Thereafter, Linda Johnson was appointed by the Court as Mrs. Roberts' Guardian *ad Litem*. Again, HHE refused to produce the records and nursing chart of Mrs. Roberts after the request by Mrs. Johnson as her duly appointed Guardian *ad Litem*. A final hearing was held on December 3, 2008. On December 16, 2008, the trial court issued an Order for HHE to produce Mrs. Roberts' records and nursing chart based upon the inherent power of the court to control the litigation. On January 21, 2009, HHE then filed a notice of Appeal and sought review by the Court of Appeals. The parties fully briefed the issues raised by HHE and while on appeal, the dispute was resolved. In July of 2009, that appeal was dismissed by the consent of the parties pursuant to Rule 232, SCACR.

Having received her mother's nursing home chart and records, Linda Johnson, as Personal Representative of Roberts' Estate, filed wrongful death and a survival action Notices of Intent on April 13, 2010. (R. pp. 20-65). Standard interrogatories and requests for production, along with responses to the same, were served along with the Notices of Intent. (Id.) The parties convened for a pre-suit mediation on September 9, 2010. Following the declaration of impasse at mediation, on October 13, 2010, suits for wrongful death and survival were filed in the Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 643-644; R. pp. 66-89). Respondents timely served Answers to the Complaints on November 21, 2010. Each Answer included a qualified general denial and numerous affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 90-137). Relevant to this appeal, Respondents claimed that the suits were barred and subject to arbitration. (Id.)

Immediately after receiving the Answers, on December 2, 2010, Johnson moved to strike a number of defenses, including the arbitration defenses. (R. pp. 138-141). The

trial court heard Johnson's Motions to Strike on February 11, 2011 and denied Johnson's motion to strike the arbitration defenses. (R. pp. 16-17).

Shortly after having filed the lawsuits, Johnson served discovery upon the Respondents on November 8, 2010. HHE requested and received from Johnson an extension to respond to her discovery requests. HHE then responded partially to Petitioner's first interrogatories and requests to produce on January 21, 2011. The same day Respondents UHS Pruitt Corporation, United Rehab, and United Clinical responded to Johnson's first requests for production. Johnson served her First Supplemental Requests for Production on Defendant HHE on February 14, 2011. On July 26, 2011, Defendant HHE served its response to Johnson's First Supplemental Requests for Production.

During this discovery process, Johnson was forced to file a motion to compel certain discovery responses from the Respondents on February 16, 2011. (R. pp. 142-143). Respondent HHE appeared and defended Johnson's motion to compel before the circuit court in a hearing on March 16, 2011. Petitioner also filed a Motion to Compel responses from the various Respondents on June 8, 2011. (R. pp. 144-145). At no time during this discovery process did Respondents object to producing the information on the grounds that it might waive any rights to seek arbitration.

Respondent HHE also actively took advantage of the discovery process afforded by the circuit court and the Rules of Civil Procedure. In February of 2011, HHE served Requests for Admission upon Johnson. HHE also engaged and participated in a course of discovery concerning the arbitration issues. HHE served written discovery upon Johnson. Johnson fully replied to these discovery requests in a timely fashion.

On May 5, 2011, Respondents participated in depositions related to the arbitration defense. HHE noticed and took the deposition of Linda Johnson as the personal representative of her mother's estate. That same day Petitioner's counsel deposed Ms. Sally Dobson, the admissions director at HHE who participated in the admissions process for Mrs. Roberts at the facility.

Throughout the course of discovery in this matter, Respondent HHE has produced thousands of pages of discovery documents to the Petitioner. Furthermore, Respondent HHE participated in a second, failed mediation on August 11, 2011.<sup>2</sup>

On August 2, 2011, HHE moved for an order dismissing Johnson's lawsuits and compelling arbitration. (R. p. 146). The trial court held a hearing on HHE's motion on October 7, 2011, after which the court denied the motion by an Order of November 9, 2011. (R. pp. 1-13). Following the denial of its motion to compel arbitration, HHE moved for reconsideration. (R. p. 447). The trial court denied HHE's motion for reconsideration by an Order entered January 17, 2012. (R. p. 14). HHE's Notice of Appeal was filed on February 2, 2012. (R. p. 545).

In an unpublished, *per curiam* Opinion the Court of Appeals reversed the lower court's denial of Respondents' Motion to Compel Arbitration. *Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Op. No. 2014-UP-318 (Ct. App. Aug. 6, 2014). The Court of Appeals reversed as to each of the four bases for the lower court's order. Specifically, it reversed as to: (1) the trial court's finding that the Arbitration agreement was not governed by the Federal Arbitration Act; (2) the trial court's refusing "to enforce the parties Arbitration Agreement in accordance with its plain terms" related to the

---

<sup>2</sup> In Hampton County, and across the 14<sup>th</sup> Circuit, mediation is mandatory pursuant to Court Order.

Arbitration Agreement's selection of the arbitral forum and that selection's materiality; (3) the trial court's determination that Respondents had waived arbitration under *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway*, Op. No. 27401 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 18, 2014); and, (4) as to the trial court's finding that there was no meeting of the minds between the parties.

On August 20, 2014, Petitioners filed a Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing *En Banc* in the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals denied the Petition on October 23, 2014. Johnson timely filed her Petition for Writ of Certiorari before this Court. While denying the petition as to question II, on March 4, 2015, this Court granted review upon Petitioner's question I: "Did the Court of Appeals err by failing to address the Petitioner's dispositive issue of waiver, by failing to undertake any factual analysis of waiver, and by issuing a conclusory ruling on the issue which is inconsistent with the record before the Court?"

### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals' opinion below should be reversed so that sound jurisprudence determines the results of controversies rather than result-driven, end-oriented ruling. Respectfully, the Court of Appeals should not be allowed to ignore a party's arguments on a dispositive issue, ignore the factual analysis required to be undertaken, ignore the actual facts of the record, and then issue an unpublished opinion likely to receive a lesser chance of review by this Court. The Court of Appeals failed to review the record on waiver, address the facts, and apply the law. There is no analysis or application of the law in the Opinion.

Sound jurisprudence should require a full analysis of a dispositive issue. To ignore the issue as done below deprives the Petitioner, the Respondents, and in fact the Bench and Bar, of clear, consistent rulings and adjudication of the common issue of waiver.

Because of that failure or refusal below, Petitioner respectfully asks that this Court undertake the appellate review required of the issue. If that duty of review is undertaken, it is certain on this record that Respondents HHE's persistent, clear, and years-long course of availing themselves of the benefits and powers of the Court system, should result in a finding of waiver and this matter should be remanded to the Court of Common Pleas. This is as strong of a factual case for a finding of waiver as can exist.

**I. UNDER ALL EXISTING PRECEDENT RESPONDENTS HAVE WAIVED THE RIGHTS TO ENFORCE THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE; YET, AS TO THIS DISPOSITIVE ISSUE, THE COURT OF APPEALS FOUND NON-WAIVER BY FAILING AND REFUSING TO UNDERTAKE THE REQUIRED FACTUAL ANALYSIS TO ADDRESS THE ISSUE ON ITS MERITS.**

The Opinion below must be reversed because the Court of Appeals failed to address the dispositive issue of waiver in any meaningful or substantive way. In its unpublished Opinion the Court ignored the issue of waiver. The holding states in conclusory fashion, and with no analysis, as follows:

We reverse as to whether the trial court erred in ruling Heritage waived arbitration. *See Dean* at 47 (ruling the appellants did not delay in filing their demand for arbitration when the appellants participated in the statutorily required mediation process, and after the respondent filed her formal complaint, moved to compel arbitration at their first opportunity)

Opinion, ¶3. Despite Johnson's request on reconsideration that the Court of Appeals actually address the record before it and the merits of the issue, the Court refused to

perform the fact-based and case-by-case analysis that has been the hallmark of waiver analysis.

Most glaringly, in the language above, even if the Court of Appeals' analysis of *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014), is correct and the "first opportunity" language relied upon is the standard, then the Court's application of the facts of this record is absolutely wrong. Even the Respondents HHE cannot argue with a straight face that they moved to compel arbitration "at their first opportunity." In fact, the record before this Court reveals quite the opposite, as examined below.

To highlight the need for reversal, an overview of the law of waiver and the facts of this case is important. Respondents HHE have waived any right to seek arbitration. In South Carolina, parties can waive their right to enforce an arbitration agreement. *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 521 S.E.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1999). Three factors generally are considered to determine if a party has waived its right to enforce an arbitration clause: 1) the time between commencement of the action and moving for arbitration; 2) whether the party seeking to compel arbitration engaged in discovery before moving for arbitration; and, 3) prejudice to the non-moving party which must be more than mere inconvenience. *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 647 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2007). This line of cases is well-settled and the concept of waiver enduring. *See, generally, Sentry Engineering & Constr., Inc. v. Mariner's Cay Dev. Corp.*, 287 S.C. 346, 338 S.E.2d 631 (1985); *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 521 S.E.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1999); *Mailsorce, LLC v. M. A. Bailey & Assocs.*, 356 S.C. 370, 588 S.E.2d 635 (Ct. App. 2003); *Rich v. Walsh*, 357 S.C. 64, 590 S.E.2d

506 (Ct. App. 2003); *Evans v. Accent Manufactured Homes*, 352 S.C. 544, 575 S.E.2d 74 (Ct. App. 2003); *Deloitte & Touche, LLP v. Unisys Corp.*, 358 S.C. 179, 594 S.E.2d 523 (Ct. App. 2004); *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 647 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2007); *Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 116, 713 S.E.2d 799 (Ct. App. 2011).

Here, the trial court correctly found that HHE waived their rights to arbitration. HHE's resort to the protections, benefits, rules, and procedures of the Courts of this state began when it defended the initial *Ex Parte* TRO seeking the nursing home chart which was filed by the Plaintiff all the way back in September of 2008. It is clear that at the point in time the dispute concerning Linda Johnson's ability to collect her mother's medical records arose, HHE could have moved to have that matter referred to arbitration. The Arbitration Agreement at issue contains the following language concerning the types of disputes or controversies purportedly subject to arbitration:

It is hereby understood and agreed by Heritage of the Low Country and... [Resident or authorized representative of the Resident referred to collectively as Resident]... that regardless of any other agreement or understanding between the Facility and the Resident, **any and all controversies, claims, disputes, disagreements or demands of any kind (referred to as a "Claim" or "Claims") arising out of or relating to the Resident's Admission Agreement with the Facility (the "Admission Agreement") or any service or care provided to the Resident by the Facility shall be settled exclusively by binding arbitration.** This means that the parties are waiving their right to a trial before a jury or judge.

1. **Claims.** For purposes of this Arbitration Agreement, **a Claim shall include**, without being limited to, a claim for payment, nonpayment, or refund for services rendered to the Resident by the Facility, **violations of any right granted to the Resident by law or by the**

**Admission Agreement, breach of contract, fraud or misrepresentation, negligence, gross negligence, malpractice, or any other claim based on any departure from accepted standard of medical or health care or safety whether sounding in tort or contract.**

(Emphasis added) (ROA p. 309).

The breadth of the language of the Arbitration Agreement is obvious and would have covered the dispute, controversy, disagreement, and demand by Linda Johnson concerning her mother's medical records and chart. In 2008, had HHE any intention of seeking to preserve its claimed rights to arbitration, HHE could have sought to compel arbitration in the underlying matter. However, rather than so move, not only did HHE file a motion with the trial court to dissolve the TRO, but HHE appeared before the Court, argued motions concerning the issues, and ultimately appealed the circuit court's decision to the Court of Appeals. The dispute concerning the release of the chart involved months of the Respondents availing themselves of the court system. Thus, the disputes between the Roberts family and HHE have been in litigation since September 2008.

The dispute over the nursing home chart is important: because nursing home negligence cases require an Affidavit of Merit, all nursing home negligence lawsuits generally require that a copy of the chart be obtained and reviewed by litigants and their potential experts. Mrs. Johnson presumed in the fall of 2008 that the Respondents fought the Roberts' family's attempt to obtain the chart because a lawsuit was being considered. Of course, it is just as possible that HHE did not believe a duly appointed Power-of-Attorney could not obtain a copy of the chart. Regardless, Respondents HHE through their actions demonstrated that there was a dispute between Mrs. Roberts' Power-of

Attorney and the facility, the very kind of dispute that the Respondents now claim is subject to arbitration.

Then, almost two years after the initial lawsuit for records, the instant proceedings were commenced by filing two Notices of Intent that were served on Respondents on or about April 13, 2010. A nursing home negligence action cannot be commenced until the plaintiff has filed and served a Notice of Intent. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125. Again, HHE had an opportunity to move to compel arbitration. In fact, S.C. Code § 15-79-120 specifically addresses this issue and states that parties can agree to arbitrate prior to filing a medical malpractice action. Instead, HHE chose to participate in the Notice of Intent proceedings and to attend a failed mediation, and the Summonses and Complaints were filed on October 13, 2010. HHE's motion to compel arbitration was not filed until August 2, 2011. During that long delay, HHE engaged in discovery. HHE have served and answered discovery, though they have attempted to limit that discovery only to "arbitration" issues. HHE has taken and defended depositions. Not only did HHE participate in the pre-suit mediation on September 9, 2010, but also a second mediation on August 11, 2011. Throughout this time frame HHE has also participated in procedural and discovery hearings before the trial court, rather than moving to compel arbitration.

However, one unique procedural detail in this case is most telling of the Respondents' abject failure to move in a timely fashion and of their ploy to continually, purposefully avail themselves of the benefits of the court system. After Respondents answered Petitioner's Complaints, Linda Johnson almost immediately filed a Motion to Strike the Fifth and Sixth defenses of Arbitration (R. pp. 138-141). At argument, Johnson's counsel argued that arbitration was not appropriate in this case and instead was

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