THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY  
Court Of Common Pleas  
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 30 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

---

Appellate Case No. 2014-002502  
Lower Court Case No. 2010-CP-25-489  
Lower Court Case No. 2010-CP-25-490

---

LINDA JOHNSON, as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of INEZ ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

v.

HERITAGE HEALTHCARE OF ESTILL, LLC, d/b/a  
Heritage of the Lowcountry and/or Uni-Health Post Acute  
Care of the Lowcountry, UNITED CLINICAL  
SERVICES, INC., UNITED REHAB, INC., and UHS-  
PRUITT CORPORATION,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Monteith P. Todd

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

established a strong federal policy in support of arbitration agreements, “requiring that [courts] ‘rigorously enforce agreements to arbitrate.’” *Shearson/Amer. Exp., Inc. v. McMahon*, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987) (quoting *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)).

This strong federal policy in favor of arbitration reflects Congress’s and the Supreme Court’s belief that arbitration is fair and beneficial. The United States Supreme Court’s decisions reflect a determination that “there are real benefits to the enforcement of arbitration provisions.” *Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams*, 532 U.S. 105, 122-123 (2001). “The advantages of arbitration are many: it is usually cheaper and faster than litigation; it can have simpler procedural and evidentiary rules; it normally minimizes hostility and is less disruptive of ongoing and future business dealings among the parties; it is often more flexible in regard to scheduling of times and places of hearings and discovery devices. . . .” *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 280 (1995) (quoting H. R. Rep. No. 97-542, p. 13 (1982)). Recently, the Supreme Court has specifically held that this federal policy in favor of arbitration includes claims involving nursing care. *Marmet Healthcare Center v. Brown*, 132 S.Ct. 1201 (2012).

This Court has noted that the federal policy in favor of arbitration includes a presumption against a finding of waiver of an arbitration agreement. *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 387-388, 759 S.E.2d at 736. In *Dean*, this Court held that “the FAA requires courts to resolve ‘any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues . . . in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or *an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability.*’” *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 387-388, 759 S.E.2d at 736 (quoting *Moses H. Cone Mem’l Hosp.*, 460 U.S. at 24–25 (1983))

(emphasis added). This Court further noted that “there is a presumption against finding a party has waived its right to compel arbitration.” *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 388, 759 S.E.2d at 736 (citing *E. Dredging & Constr., Inc. v. Parliament House, L.L.C.*, 698 So. 2d 102, 103 (Ala. 1997)). Further, “a ‘party seeking to prove a waiver of a right to arbitrate carries a heavy burden . . . .’” *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 388, 759 S.E.2d at 736 (quoting *Blue Cross Blue Shield of Ala. v. Rigas*, 923 So. 2d 1077 at 1093 (Ala. 2005)).

**B. Defendants Did Not Take Any Act That Constituted a “Voluntary and Intentional Abandonment or Relinquishment of a Known Right.”**

“A waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right.” *Sanford v. South Carolina State Ethics Com’n*, 385 S.C. 483, 496, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (2009) (citing *Eason v. Eason*, 384 S.C. 473, 682 S.E.2d 804 (2009)). The three factors generally considered to determine if a party has waived its right to enforce arbitration include: (1) the time between commencement of the action and moving for arbitration; (2) whether the party seeking arbitration engaged in extensive discovery; and (3) prejudice to the non-moving party which must be more than mere inconvenience. *Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 374 S.C. 122, 126, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251 (Ct. App. 2007). “Specifically, the party seeking to avoid arbitration ‘must show prejudice through an undue burden caused by delay in demanding arbitration.’” *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 388, 759 S.E.2d at 736 (quoting *Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton*, 336 S.C. 658, 665, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999)).

In this case, the Defendants have never acted in a manner contrary to their contractual right to arbitrate. Certainly, Plaintiff can point to no action by Defendants that demonstrates a “voluntary and intentional relinquishment of” the right to compel arbitration. *Sanford*, 385 S.C. at 496, 685 S.E.2d at 607. The Defendants immediately

raised arbitration in their Answers. The Defendants then challenged the Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the arbitration defenses. Thereafter, the Defendants conducted limited discovery for the express purpose of enforcing the arbitration agreement. The Defendants' conduct has been the *exact opposite* of a knowing and voluntary relinquishment of the right to enforce the arbitration agreement. Thus, there has been no waiver.

**1. Defendants' Pre-Complaint Activity in Unrelated Litigation Is Irrelevant to the Waiver Analysis.**

In conducting its own waiver analysis, this Court has focused on post-Complaint activity. In *Dean*, this Court found "that Appellants did not delay in filing their demand for arbitration" because "*after Respondent filed her formal complaint*, Appellants moved to compel arbitration at their first opportunity." *Id.* at 388, 759 S.E.2d at 736 (emphasis added). *Dean*, therefore, makes it clear that a waiver analysis focuses on post-complaint litigation activity, not on prior disputes between the parties. *Id.* Further, the Court of Appeals has previously noted that "it would be inappropriate to consider actions undertaken in other cases for purposes of determining the extent of discovery that has been undertaken in the instant case." *Carlson*, 404 S.C. at 258, 743 S.E.2d at 872.

Despite this Court's clear instruction in *Dean* that waiver must be based on post-complaint activity, Plaintiff now relies primarily on unrelated pre-complaint activity wherein Defendants defended themselves against actions (wholly distinct from the wrongful death and survival actions underlying this appeal) brought by Linda Johnson personally. (Petitioner's Brief at 2-4, 10-12.) While Plaintiff made reference to the earlier litigation initiated by Linda Johnson in the hearing on the Motion to Strike (ROA at 564-83), Plaintiff did not rely on Ms. Johnson's earlier litigation in opposing the Motion to

Compel Arbitration (ROA at 178-88, 584-608).<sup>2</sup> Moreover, as described in Petitioner's Brief, the earlier litigation was initiated by Ms. Johnson, who obtained a TRO requiring the production of medical records. The sum and substance of Defendants' response to this litigation was to respond to the trial court's *ex parte* orders regarding Ms. Johnson's attempts to obtain medical records. An arbitrator would not have had the authority to set aside or invalidate any order of the Hampton County Court of Common Pleas. Thus, regardless of whether Ms. Johnson's litigation activity in connection with obtaining medical records was a violation of the arbitration agreement, the only option for responding to the *ex parte* orders was to seek relief in the court that issued that order or in the appellate courts. Defendants' attempts to defend themselves against Ms. Johnson's *ex parte* use of the trial courts does not evidence a "voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment" by Defendants of the right to compel arbitration. *Sanford*, 385 S.C. at 496, 685 S.E.2d at 607; *see also Carlson*, 404 S.C. at 258, 743 S.E.2d at 872 ("[I]t would be inappropriate to consider actions undertaken in other cases for purposes of determining the extent of discovery that has been undertaken in the instant case.").

---

<sup>2</sup> The record does not contain any filings with respect to the prior litigation initiated by Ms. Johnson, and Plaintiff did not rely on this prior litigation in opposing Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration in the trial court. Thus, in addition to being irrelevant to the waiver analysis, Plaintiff's argument with respect to the prior litigation has not been preserved and should not be considered by this Court. *See* Rule 210(h), SCACR ("[T]he appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on Appeal."); *Kennedy v. S.C. Retirement System*, 349 S.C. 531, 564 S.E.2d 322 (2001) (holding new arguments presented in Petition for Rehearing should not be considered given Appellants had the opportunity to present those arguments and evidence when this case was originally heard by the trial court); *Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-780 (2004) (emphasizing "importance and absolute necessity" of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration).

**2. Defendants Timely Asserted the Right to Enforce the Arbitration Agreement and Moved for Arbitration at the Earliest Possible Opportunity Following the Filing of the Complaints.**

With respect to post-complaint activity, Plaintiff continues to provide a misleading narrative regarding the Defendants' supposed participation in the litigation. (Petitioner's Brief at 4-6, 12-15.) Plaintiff's Complaints were filed on October 13, 2010. (ROA at 66-78, 79-89.) On November 24, 2010, Defendants raised the issue of arbitration in their Answers, which were the first responsive pleadings filed by Defendants. (ROA at 92, ¶¶ 16-17; ROA at 98, ¶¶ 16-17; ROA at 104, ¶¶ 16-17; ROA at 110, ¶¶ 16-17.) On December 1, 2010, the Plaintiff moved to strike the portions of the Defendants' Answers that raised arbitration as a defense. (ROA at 138-39, 140-41.) The Motions to Strike were denied by Orders dated March 4, 2011. (ROA at 16-17, 18-19.) After the court denied the Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the arbitration defenses, the Defendants conducted limited discovery *solely* on the issue of arbitration, which included depositions of the individuals who signed the arbitration agreement. (ROA at 609-29, 630-35.) After receiving the transcripts in July 2011, the Defendants moved to compel arbitration on August 4, 2011. (ROA at 146-77.)

The entirety of Defendants' participation in the post-complaint litigation was limited to Defendants' efforts to compel arbitration and defending against Plaintiff's improper use of the courts in violation of the arbitration agreement. (*See* Petitioner's Brief at 12 (acknowledging that "HHE have served and answered discovery, though they have attempted to limit that discovery only to 'arbitration' issues").) Nevertheless, Plaintiff attempts to characterize this limited participation by Defendants—which

occurred only *after* Defendants made it clear through their Answers that Plaintiff's claims belonged in arbitration—as a “delay tactic.” (Petitioner's Brief at 13.)

Less than ten months passed from the filing of the Complaint, which was reasonable given that arbitration was immediately raised as an issue in Defendants' Answers and delay in conducting the limited discovery necessary to enforce the arbitration agreement was caused, in part, by the Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the arbitration defenses. Thus, there was no undue delay in seeking to enforce the arbitration agreement, and Defendants took no action before the trial court that was inconsistent with their position that Plaintiff's claims belonged in arbitration. *See Sanford v. South Carolina State Ethics Comm'n*, 385 S.C. 483, 496, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (citing *Eason v. Eason*, 384 S.c. 473, 682 S.E.2d 804 (2009)) (“A waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right.”).

**3. Defendants Sought Only Expressly Limited Discovery Solely for the Purpose of Enforcing the Arbitration Agreement, and Defendants Should Not Be Punished for Responding to Plaintiff's Discovery.**

Plaintiff argues that “HHE participated in extensive discovery.” (Petitioner's Brief at 15.) She further asserts that “[o]n issues unrelated to arbitration, the parties have filed and a conducted extensive written discovery, participated in two mediations, and attended multiple Court hearings.” (*Id.*) However, Plaintiff concedes, as she must, that Defendants “attempted to limit that discovery only to ‘arbitration’ issues.” (*Id.* at 12.) As Defendants explained in response to Plaintiff's argument at the hearing on the Motion to Strike:

And as our discovery is limited. He's saying that we're trying to avail ourselves to the Court to get discovery on the merits. We haven't sent any discovery on the merits of their underlying claim. The only discovery we've sent, and purposely to limit it, so that we didn't waive the claim, the only discovery we've sent was on the issue of arbitration, and only because they haven't complied with the arbitration agreement. This

discovery can be done fairly quickly. We can get this motion to compel filed so that it's in a procedural posture so that they can respond. If they need to take discovery do to that, that's fine. We're not suggesting that they can't. We're not suggesting that they not be allowed and that they be put at a disadvantage to respond to the motion to compel arbitration. Nobody has suggested that. All we're asking for is that we give out reasonable discovery on the arbitration issues and then we can present it to the Court so that we will be in a position to address the merits of the arbitration agreement.

(ROA at 577, line 24 to ROA at 578, line 17.) Further, in response to the trial court's inquiry why discovery was necessary prior to filing the Motion to Compel, Defendants explained:

Well, because he's going to raise these defenses of the authority of the people who signed it, of the Triple A issue, and we need to know what defenses he's going to raise and be able to investigate those defenses and be able to respond to those defenses, not the underlying claims. We're not seeking discovery on that. We're not seeking – and that's what waiver is about, seeking to avail yourself of discovery that you wouldn't be able to get in arbitration on underlying claims; not to go forward and present your case on whether the arbitration agreement is valid. I think the Court has a right to hear all the evidence relating to the arbitration before it makes a decision whether these agreements are enforceable or not.

(ROA at 581, lines 1-14.) Thus, Defendants made clear at the outset that they intended to enforce the arbitration agreement and that they simply needed limited discovery in order to present the arbitration issues fully to the trial court.

The two depositions in this case both occurred on May 5, 2011 and totaled less than 90 minutes. (ROA at 609, 618, 631, 635.) At the beginning of Ms. Johnson's deposition, the parties stipulated that the depositions were limited to arbitration:

MR. COPE: Let's put on the record first, Matt Creech and I are here today on behalf of Linda Johnson, and it is our understanding that this deposition is for limited purposes of issues relating to an arbitration agreement and whether or not that arbitration agreement is enforceable. We agree with that; however, we obviously believe that it should be strictly applied and that no questions outside that issue can be asked. Of course, reserving the right should this arbitration agreement be found – if the defendants file a Motion to Compel Arbitration and if it is denied, we will allow him to

come back and take Ms. Johnson's deposition ... in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure.

MR. RISSLER: And that's our understanding as well....

(ROA at 609-10.) Similarly, at the beginning of Ms. Dobson's deposition, the parties stipulated:

MR. COPE: Okay. We've agreed to take Ms. Sally Dobson's deposition for the limited purposes of her involvement with the admission and arbitration issues in the Cherry Scott case. agreement and whether or not that arbitration agreement is enforceable. By taking her deposition today we're not waiving our rights should we be allowed to proceed with litigation or if the Defendant does not move to compel arbitration that we would be allowed to take her deposition again if necessary on the merits of the case.

MR. RISSLER: We agree.

(ROA at 631.) Thus, Plaintiff stipulated that the sole purpose of taking the depositions was for "purposes of issues relating to an arbitration agreement and whether or not that arbitration agreement is enforceable." Of course, a deposition limited solely to arbitration issues would have served no purpose if Plaintiff believed that Defendants had earlier waived arbitration. Moreover, it is illogical to argue that a party waives arbitration by engaging in discovery for the sole purpose of enforcing an arbitration agreement and inaccurate to argue that Defendants "participated in extensive discovery," (Petitioner's Brief at 15) when it is clear that Defendants' discovery was limited to enforcing the arbitration agreement.

Plaintiff further contends that the Defendants have waived the right to arbitration by responding to Plaintiff's use of the court system and responding to Plaintiff's broad discovery requests. Defendants indicated in their Answers that they intended to enforce the arbitration agreement, and they repeated this in the hearing on the Motion to Strike. Plaintiff's argument fails to demonstrate any action of Defendants that could be

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